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Introduction 

The purpose of this document is to provide identification of significant historic 
resources within the City of Kirkland. The City of Kirkland Comprehensive Plan 
recommends identification of historic resources. The following statements are found 
in the history section of Community Goals and Policies. 

Goal3: "To preserve and enhance Kirkland's historic identity." 

Policy 3.1: "Structures that deserve protection and enhancement should be 
identified." 

Policy 3.2: "Incentives to promote historic preservation should be established." 

Policy 3.3: "Alteration of historic structures should be limited to maintain the 
integrity of significant historic features." 

Identification of historic resources will provide a basis for preservation guidelines. It 
may provide incentives which will benefit Kirkland residents by establishing and 
enhancing community character. It may also provide economic benefits from reuse 
and revitalization of historic buildings. 

The method used to identify historically significant properties for this document 
included research leading to the Historic Context Statement, which is included as the 
first section of the document. The Context Statement provides an historic overview of 
the City from 1872 to 1949. It covers the settlement periods and early pioneers of 
Kirkland. Juanita and Rose Hill, recently annexed into the City, are included in the 
Context Statement. 



•• 11. Introduction 

This historic overview provides a vehicle for categorizing information about related 
historic properties based on the theme "geographic." The theme refers to ~eographic 
limits, and chronological period. It provides a method for evaluating the significance 
of historic resources and establishes a tool for management decisions. 

The geographic theme of the Context Statement concentrates on the historic 
development of the area presently within the City limits of Kirkland during the 
chronological period between 1872 and 1949. It describes the range and distribution 
of historic resource types which have existed and presently occur within this specified 
area. 

The geographically-oriented statement also identifies the historical themes which 
have played an important role in the area and the corresponding historic resource 
types which are associated with these themes. For instance, Peter Kirk's steel mill 
enterprise was the catalyst for certain architectural and development patterns. 
During the depression and recovery period, architectural styles and development 
patterns were very different from those of the steel mill era. Each historical theme is 
given a separate chapter in the Context Statement. Chapter VI, the conclusion, 
provides a summary of the progression of historic architectural styles in Kirkland. 

The consultant, Northwest Historic Resources, derived the information for the Context 
Statement from site visits throughout the area, existing literature about the history of 
the City of Kirkland; and from information provided by local residents, property 
owners, city employees, and historians. 

Prior to this study, a list of twenty-eight historic resources had been identified for the 
purpose of State Environmental Policy Act evaluation within the development 
application and review process. The list did not include historic properties in the 
Juanita and Rose Hill neighborhoods. The inventory of historic structures in this 
document represents a comprehensive survey of buildings and structures which 
existed prior to 1949 within the present city limits of Kirkland, including the Juanita 
and Rose Hill neighborhoods. 

Sixty-eight properties were designated by the consultant, Northwest Preservation 
Resources, as the most significant of those researched. The Historic Property 
Inventory Forms appear as an appendix to this document, together with a list of 
historic sites mentioned in the Context Statement, and a list of properties surveyed, 
but not included in the Inventory. 



Chapter I: 

Pleasure (Yarrow) Bay 
to Juanita Bay 

Houghton-Kirkland 

1 Field Site #30 

Early Settlem.ent/ Pioneer Period 

Originally inhabited }?y the Duwamish Indians, the eastern shore of Lake Washington 
was first settled by Euro-Americans in 1855-1860. By the late 1860's, a series of 
homesteads were concentrated along the shoreline between Pleasure (Yarrow) Bay 
and Juanita Bay (illustration, page 2). Permanent white settlement and subsequent 
applications for land grants under the Homestead Act of 1862 spurred the U.S. 
Surveyor General's (Land) Office in 1870 to create the first detailed maps of the area 
(illustration, page 13). In the process of marking off uniform lana parcels for 
homesteads, surveyor Walter Hall observed three cabins in the Kirkland area-- two 
near Yarrow Bay and one at the head of Juanita Bay. The cabins near Yarrow Bay 
belonged to Mrs. Nancy McGregor, and her sons James and William Popham. By 1872, 
all three had their own cabin and 160 acres of land each. Further north on Juanita 
Bay, a man by the name of Hubbard had set up a sawmill and a cabin. 

In 1872, a neighbor north of the Pophams-McGregors, Alfred Smith, sold his 80-acre 
claim to Samuel French. The PQphams-McGregors soon moved on, leaving Sam 
French, his wife Caroline, and son Harry, the distinction of being the first permanent 
settlers of what later became known as the settlement of Houghton. In 187 4, Harry 
French built a two story, wood frame house on 80 acres directly north of his parent's 
property, where it stood for over a century. (In 1976, the house was moved from NE 
63rd and Lake Washington Boulevard to its current location at 4130 Lake Washington 
Boulevard.)l 

Soon other settlers and families arrived. In 1875, E. M. Church and his wife claimed 
180 acres north of the French's. J .W. DeMott took up land in what is now the business 
section of Kirkland. Andrew Nelson and his sons homesteaded the area west of 
Market Street and north of Juanita Bay. (Nelson constructed a home in 1889 on his 
Cedarmere Estate at the end of 11th Avenue West. Today, it is occupied by the 
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2 Field Site #12 
s Field Site #18 

Norman family.)2 Others ventured to Rose Hill and inland towards the Sammamish 
River valley. From about 1880 to the turn of the century all the land between 
Kirkland and Redmond became settled. 

In the late 187o•s and early 188o•s, the east side of Lake Washington was still dense 
with timberland, with few roads or paths. 11Cut-off from the commercial opportunities 
of Puget Sound and ignored by the railroads, the eastern shore of Lake Washington 
was late in attracting settlement~~ (Rowe 1983: 2). The lack of decent roads restricted 
travel to large bodies of water; thus, homesteads for the most part were situated along 
the shoreline of Lake Washington. Jay o·conner, a settler, who purchased 80 acres of 
the McGregor-Popham•s homestead along the lakefront (at Houghton) in the late 
187o·s, built a dock and a flat-bottomed steam scow, the 11Squak.n In 1884, he began 
the first regular steam-powered passenger and freight-carryin~ business between 
Lake Sammamish and Lake Washington to Seattle. The IISquak was one of the few 
ways settlers from interior valleys could get to Seattle, wliich in turn opened the 
eastern shore of Lake Washington to more settlement and commerce. To provide a 
resting place for settlers, Mrs. o·connor established a hotel business in the o·connor 
home, which came to be known as Lakehouse. Lakehouse has been demolished. It 
was located at 10127 NE 59th Street. 

Increased settlement of the Eastside led to the construction in 1880 of one of the first 
roads between Lake Washington and the interior, from Pleasant Bay to 
Redmond/Lake Sammamish. It was called the Curtis Road, after the family who 
established a boat landing and ferry system at the road•s terminus on Pleasant Bay. 

Growth of the community on Pleasant Bay led to the desire by its settlers for some of 
the amenities of civilizatiOn. One need was for a permanent place to conduct religious 
services. In 1880, Harry French donated a portion of his property north of his cabin as 
the site for a church. The First Church of Christ at Pleasant Bay was the first church 
built on the east side of the lake. Soon after construction, 11the church received a gift 
from Mr. and Mrs. William Houghton of Boston, a bell for the church. 3 Consequently, 
the parishioners changed the name of their community from Pleasant Bay to 
Houghton~~ (Stokes 1968: n.p.). 
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Juanita 

' Field Site #53 

Chapter 1: Early Settlement/Pioneer Period 

The community to the north on Juanita Bay was settled at the same time as 
Houghton. Juanita was initially called Hubbard's Landing after the area's first 
permanent settler who delivered the mail by rowboat between Juanita and Seattle. 
The area was later renamed "Juanita" after a popular song of the period. 

Other settlers arrived and homesteaded in Juanita in the late 1870's, including the 
Langdon and Dunlap families. The Dunlaps established Juanita's first school in their 
log cabin which was located east of the Langdon homestead on NE 116th Street. (On 
the same site Andrew Nelson built a 2-room school in 1904.) 

By the middle 1880's, the community had a population of approximately 150. Logging 
operations began as early as 1875. Mills were established at Houghton and on 
Juanita Bay; as loggers harvested the thick forests along the Lake Washington 
shoreline. A thriving sawmill manufactured lumber and shingles. Chief exports were 
hay and lumber. Early pioneer, Dorr Forbes, established a small water-powered 
shingle mill on Juanita Creek. In 1891, this donation of wood pilings helped create 
the first bridge across Juariita Slough to Kirkland, spanning a stream later named 
Forbes Creek. The bridge eliminated the isolation of Juanita from Kirkland and 
Houghton, and did much to hasten Juanita's development. Juanita's early 
development paralleled the growth of the local logging industry. The Shaeffer 
Brothers and the Woodins, for whom Woodinville was named, logged Big Finn Hill in 
Juanita, established a logging camp, and built a tramway that took the logs to the 
lake. 

Roland Langdon, early settler and logger, established his homestead in 1877. (Until 
recently, NE 116th Street was called Langdon Road.) His son, Harry Langdon, built a 
wood frame house in 1884 (one of the last remaining barns in Juanita-Kirkland is 
located behind the Langdon House on NE 116th Street4), and started the first grocery 
store in Juanita in 1902. Other early settlers included the Josten (1882) and Fox 
(1888) families. 
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From Houghton to 
Juanita 

Juanita's early growth was similar to Kirkland and Houghton, with occupations based 
on the extraction and use of local natural resources. Farming, logging, 
boating/shipping, and later the mining of gravel along Forbes Creek were the main 
sources of employment during the early settlement days. The Northern Pacific 
Railroad, with expectations of Kirkland becoming the "Pittsburgh of the West," built a 
line from Kirkland to Woodinville, with a station at Firlock near Juanita. "Two 
steamers a day connected Juanita with Seattle" (R. L. Polk & Co. 1889-90). The 1893 
Depression and the collapse of Kirk's steel enterprise, however, slowed development of 
the area. Not until 1921 was Juanita platted as a townsite. By 1929, Juanita's 
population had grown to 1,400. 

Until 1888, growth of the region was gradual. Establishing homesteads close to the 
Lake Washington shoreline, the early settlers engaged in subsistence farming, 
logging, boating, hunting and fishing. The few settlers who took up small tracts 
established homesteads by clearing acres of dense forests. Thus, by 1888, the 
combined population of the shoreline from Houghton to Juanita Bay was no more than 
200. 
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Founding of Kirkland 

Peter Kirk's Steel Mill Enterprise 

In 1888, conditions suddenly changed with the discovery of the Denny iron mine in the 
Cascade Mountains near Snoqualmie Pass. Leigh S. J. Hunt of Seattle, owner­
publisher of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, conceived a plan to exploit the mines' iron 
ore deposits and make the area east of Seattle an important center for steel and iron 
production. Hunt hoped to create the "Pittsburgh of the West." 

The discovery led Hunt and other local businessmen to believe that iron ore existed in 
profitable quantities, making feasible the establishment of an iron and steel works on 
Puget Sound. The plan was to mine the ore and ship it by rail to an area on the 
northeast shore of Lake Washington where smelting ~lants and shops would be built 
for fabricating rails and other steel products. Also, the proximity of limestone and 
coal to the Denny mine was expected to provide an inexpensive product which would 
make Kirkland the center of a steel industry that would be able to undersell eastern 
plants ... " (Bagley 1929: 838). By undercutting East Coast mills, Hunt hoped to 
monopolize the production and distribution of steel rails and other steel products 
throughout the western UQited States, China, and South America. 

The success of Hunt's enterprise was contingent upon his ability to interest English 
steel industrialist Peter Kirk in his venture, and his ability to secure the financial 
backing of local leading businessmen. "The nearness of the proposed Seattle, 
Lakeshore and Eastern Railroad to the Snoqualmie mining district aroused the 
interest of local promoters in the possibiliti~s of using the Snoqualmie ore for a 
smelting industry. Their hopes heightened when in 1886 Peter Kirk, an English iron 
and steel magnate, and John Kellett, his chief engineer, visited the area" (Sherrard 
1962: 129) (Kellet became Director of Engineering for both the Kirkland Land & 
Improvement Company and the Great Western Iron & Steel Company, and designer of 
the original plat of Kirkland). A year later, Peter Kirk entered into a leasing 
agreement with the Denny Iron Mining Company to mine the claim's iron-ore 
deposits. 

Kirk needed a location for his iron and steel mill. Hunt convinced Kirk that together 
they could construct an iron and steel works on the east side of Lake Washington. 
"Hunt's plan was to set up a separate corporation to purchase land for the steel mill 
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Construction of the 
Steel Mill • Residential 
and Commercial 
Development 

Chapter ll: Peter Kirk's Steel Mill Enterprise 

and a townsite" (Sherrard 1962: 133). In July, 1888, Hunt, Kirk, and Walter Williams, 
A. A. Denny and George Heilbron incorporated the Kirkland Land and Improvement 
Company. The company was formed to handle buying and selling properties and 
building and developing the town, as well as directing the functions of the steel mill. 
The corporation immediately acquired 5,000 acres of land in an area now comprising 
central and north Kirkland. A month later, articles of incorporation were drawn up 
for the Moss Bay Iron and Steel Company of America Oater known as the Great 
Western Iron and Steel Company). The company acquired 120 acres of land on Rose 
Hill near Forbes Lake (Kirkland Lake) from the Kirkland Land and Improvement 
Company as the site of the proposed steel mill. The address of the property today is 
122nd Avenue and NE 90th Street. The remaining 4,880 acres were platted into a 
townsite, which was named Kirkland in honor of Peter Kirk. 

The majority of the land purchased by the Kirkland Land and Improvement Company 
was bounded on the south by (present-day) Central Avenue and extended as far north 
as the Juanita Slough. The east and west boundaries were the Lake Washington 
shoreline and Rose Hill. "The DeMott homestead in downtown Kirkland, as well as 
the E. M. Church homestead to the south, were part of the purchase ... however, most 
of the property south of these sections stayed intact because many of the early settlers 
(in Houghton) refused to sell their property, especially those along the waterfront" 
(Ely 1975: 36). Many of Houghton's pioneers were wary of Peter Kirk's steel mill 
venture, and chose instead to invest their energies and savings into their homesteads. 
Some, like Harry French and E. M. Church, however, did invest in the steel boom, and 
lost heavily. 

Between November 1888, and June 1890, the Great Western Iron and Steel Compan_y 
was actively engaged in preparing for the construction of the steel mill on Rose Hill 
near Forbes (Kirkland) Lake. The iron and steel works were to be a duplicate of Kirk's 
plant in England, and would employ up to 3,000 workers. The Company put up a 
foundry and several smaller buildings, constructed iron and coal bunkers, and dug the 
pits for the blast furnaces. Shiploads of fire-brick were brought to Kirkland, large 
quantities of machinery were imported to the site, and at least $200,000 was spent in 
setting up the smelting plant. A machine shop, blacksmith shof, pattern department 
and cast house were also built (illustration, page 9). A saw mil was built adjacent to 
the steel mill to satisfy the considerable demand for lumber. By early 1891, the 
sawmill "had cut more than 3,000,000 feet of lumber, all of which was being used in 
construction of the steel plant" (Sherrard 1962: 134). 
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5 Field Site #7 
a Field Site #19 
7 Field Site #3 
s Field Site #43 
9 Field Site #1 

1o Field Site #45 
u Field Site #9 
12 Field Site #1 
1a Field Site #2 

Output of the entire steel mill operation was to have been 6,000 tons of rails per week. 
News\!apers throughout the country heralded Kirk and Hunt's venture as a "sure 
thing. ' 

Construction of the steel mill was accompanied by the development of business and 
residential sections of the new community. By early spring of 1890, schools, churches, 
stores and a post office were being built. People arrived in large numbers to purchase 
lots and build homes. The Kirkland Land & Improvement Company mapped and 
platted street locations, and business and residential districts. One of the first 
projects undertaken by the Company was the construction of a series of attractive 
wood frame and brick houses on the hill west and north of the Market Street business 
district. Some of the homes were built to accommodate executives of the Great 
Western and Iron and Steel Company; others were constructed as a speculative 
venture to be sold to the steel mill (management) employees. MallY of the houses were 
designed and built by John Kellet, chief engineer of the Kirkland Land and 
Improvement Company, who patterned them after Victorian mill town homes in 
England. Brick was the material preferred by Kellet. Some sources state that the 
bricks were manufactured in Kirkland, but others claim the bricks were ballast from 
sailing ships that brought Peter Kirk's steel mill supplies from England. 

The Company homes, all located west of Market Street except one, include the Kellet 
House (526 lOth Avenue West)6, Trueblood Home (127 Seventh Avenue)6, Moo~y 
House (514 lOth Avenue West)7, Larson-Higgins House (424 Eighth Avenue West)'J, 
Loomis House (304 Eighth Avenue West'P, Hitter House (428 lOth Avenue West)lO, 
McLaughlin House (400 Seventh Avenue West)ll, Tomkins-Bucklin Home (202 Fifth 
Avenue West)12 and the Norman Home (630 11th Avenue West)13, They were all built 
in 1889, but with the collapse of Kirk's steel empire, many of the houses stood vacant 
through the 1890's. 
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Great Western Iron and Steel Mill (Special Collections Division, University of Washington Libraries, 
Neg. #11487). 
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Kirkland, 1889 (Kirkland Bank Building at intersection of Market Street and Central Way before 
Market Street was cut through; steamboat dock in background). (Special Collections Division, Univer­
sity of Washington Libraries, Neg. #1 871) 

11 
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Matzen Woolen Mills, Kirkland waterfront (Special Collections Division, University of Washington 
Libraries, Neg. #4443). 
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Kirkland, early 1890's (Kirkland Bank Building at intersection of Market Street and Central Way; 
wood frame buildings on waterfront became first city hall and jail. (Marymoor Museum Collection, 
Neg. OR!L 498) 

13 
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Museum Collection, Neg. OR/L 398) 
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14 Field Site #6 
16 Field Site #4 
16 Field Site #5 

Along with the need for housing, the anticipated demand for store and office space 
prompted the construction in 1890-91 of five brick commercial buildings at the 
intersection of Ma~ket and Piccadilly (Seventh Avenue) north of the current business 
district. Of the five; three survive: the Peter Kirk Buildingl4, the Joshua Sears 
Building15, and the Campbell Building (Masonic Lodge)16. These buildings were 
designed to accommodate shops at street level and business offices at the second story 
level. 

Joshua Sears, a millionaire banker from Boston, invested heavily in both the Kirkland 
Land and Improvement Company and the Great Western Iron and Steel Works. The 
proposed use of the front room of the Sears Building as a bank to handle the expected 
vast payrolls of the steel mill and supporting industries was indicative of the boom 
town atmosphere. Peter Kirk's steel enterprise failed before Sears' bank could ever 
open. 

The Peter Kirk Building originally housed a large mercantile and drug store on the 
street level and offices of the Kirkland Investment Company on the upper level. The 
ground floor of the Campbell Building ~as initially occupied by a large grocery store. 
In 1922, the Kirkland Masonic Temple purchased the building. 

The speculative nature of the steel mill enterprise was evident with the location of the 
five brick buildings. They were situated about a half-mile from the center of town and 
Lake Washington, as the Kirkland Land Company withheld all property near the lake 
from sale in order to make the land beyond more valuable. 

Construction in the center of the town, however, did proceed. The first commercial 
building (1888) was the Kirkland State Bank Building at the foot of Market Street. 
The first floor housed the bank, with the Kirkland Land and Improvement Company 
offices on the second floor. (The building was later occupied by the Lake Washington 
Telephone Company (illustration, page 17); but was later torn down to provide a 
parking lot for the new General Telephone Company building.) 
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Bungalow from the turn of the century, Dr. George H. Davis home, circa 1909 (Marymoor Museum Collection, Neg. L 80.02.1). 
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Lake W ashinJ.:Ion Telephone Compan y (Kirkland 13ank 13ui ld ing , inle rseelion of Markel S1ree1 and Ccn1ra l Way). (Co urtesy: Ernie Fonescue , Kirkland) 
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Boom and Bust· A 
Townsite Waiting For 
A Town 

Prior to the 1893, the extent of the boom seemed unlimited. In June 1890 alone, eight 
plats of additions to Kirkland were filed. There were plans to connect Kirkland with 
the transcontinental rail system with the con.struction of the Northern Pacific's Lake 
Washington Belt Line Railroad from the Main Line at Black River Junction (south of 
Renton) to the Seattle, Lakeshore & Eastern Railroad at Woodinville. Promoters of 
the line saw the entire eastern shoreline of Lake Washington as ideal for 
manufacturing industries. Nevertheless, only five miles of the track were actually 
built, connecting Kirkland to Woodinville. In Kirkland, the tracks ran along what is 
now Slater Avenue NE, with a depot at 116th Avenue NE. When the steel enterprise 
failed, the rails were tom up and the depot dismantled. 

It was believed that Kirkland would become the primary manufacturing center of the 
Puget Sound area. The town was platted to accommodate a population of 50,000. 
Early on, 2,000 men were employed by the steel mill and the Kirkland Land and 
Improvement Company, with another 2,000 jobs anticipated. By 1890, numerous 
industrial and political leaders had inspected the townsite, including President 
Benjamin Harrison, who had made the visit to investigate the feasibility of building 
the Lake Washington Ship Canal. The proposal for a ship canal connecting Lake 
Washington with Puget Sound came at a time when Peter Kirk's enterprise was at a 
standstill (in late 1892). It was believed that a canal would greatly enhance 
Kirkland's position as it would facilitate the export of the steel rails to Puget Sound 
and to the Asian and South American markets, and allow ships to bring in limestone 
needed in steel production. 

Not everyone in the political and business establishment on Puget Sound was 
supportive of Kirkland s steel enterprise, and the building of a ship canal. The 
Tacoma Ledger attempted to expose the Kirkland steel works as a dtsguise for the 
proposed canal. "The newspaper claimed that if the Kirkland Land Company could 
get the government to dig the canal in 1893, the stockholders would become 
millionaires without producing an ounce of steel. They would derive all their riches 
from sales of land" (McDonald 1979: 54). There were reports of unscrupulous land 
dealers selling over-priced plats far from town to over-eager buyers. The Ledger 
questioned whether Kirkland's land values were deliberately inflated to $1,000.00 an 
acre, thereby misrepresenting the value of the land company's assets to help attract 
additional investors. 

The Tacoma Ledger was controlled by the Tacoma business community who were in 
fierce competition with their counterparts in Seattle. They viewed the canal as 
benefiting Seattle at the expense of Tacoma's shipping trade. However, the paper's 
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allegations had some elements of truth. The success of Kirkland and its land 
developers/real estate promoters was contingent upon the success of the steel mill. 
The completion of a canal connecting Lake Washington and Puget Sound would have 
seemed to virtually guarantee the success of the steel mill. By 1893, however, the 
steel mill had yet to produce a single steel rail, and legislation to finance the 
construction of a ship canal was stalled in Congress. "Not only was the steel mill itself 
far from complete when the financial panic of 1893 struck, but there remained a gap in 
the railroad system that was to serve the mill: The 17 miles of track between the town 
of Sallal Prairie and the Summit Mining District had yet to be constructed. Without 
that track, no ore could be shipped to Kirkland. . . " (Lund & Garwood 1981). The 
Ledger was correct in describing Kirkland as, "The townsite waiting for a town." 

Nevertheless, the steel venture was destined to fail. First, Kirkland's fate as a great 
industrial center depended not upon any mineral deposits in the vicinity, but on iron 
ore in mines at least 60 miles away that could not be mined cheaply. The "Panic of 
1893" occurred at a time crucial in the development of Kirkland, for the funds needed 
to ~pay off debts and heavy investments dried up overnight. At least one million 
dollars was lost by those who invested money in tlie railroads, iron works and platted 
land additions. Not only was much outside capital spent in the enterprise, and the 
earnings of local settlers can still be seen in brick buildings which never served their 
original purposes. Furthermore, both "the Seattle, Lakeshore and Eastern Railroad 
and the Northern Pacific Railroad went into receivership. Building activities of these 
two roads were suspended before either one had developed appl'oaches into the iron­
ore deposits of the Snoqualmie mining district. . . . The Kirkland steel mill, as of 
December 1893, lacking both financial support and means of transporting raw 
materials to the plant, could not open" (Sherrard 1962: 136). 
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A New Plat For A 
Future Kirkland 

.. . 

While Peter Kirk's vision of transforming the eastern shoreline of Lake Washington 
into the "Pittsburgh of the West" proved to be illusory, his replatting of Kirkland 1890 
proved to be more permanent and visionary. The reasons for Kirk's replatting were 
soon evident: The original plat had as the center of town a s_quare bounded by 
Madison, Regent, Park and Bond Streets at the point where Piccadilly (the present 7th 
Avenue) intersected Market Street. Piccadilly and Market Streets extended out from 
the four corners of the square,. with adjoining streets· dead-ended at the square. The 
streets were straightened in the new plat, and the square plan or diamond-shaped city 
center at Seventh and Market, was abandoned. Since the steel mill was situated on 
top of Rose Hill, two miles east of the business center, the new plat eliminated the 
proposed depot at Market and Lake Street. Market Street continued due north and 
was planked almost to Juanita Bay, with 12-foot sidewalks. Seventh Avenue was 
planked from Market Street to the steel mill. The replatting provided a solid grid 
system by which the community could accommodate future growth and development 
in the central core (illustration, page 21). It proved to be Peter Kirk's legacy to 
Kirkland. , . · · . 

. . , . . . 
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Chapter III: Depression and Recovery 

Early 
Industrialization and 
Agricultural 
Development 

After the "Panic of 1893" and the demise of Peter Kirk's steel enterprise, Kirkland 
became a virtual ghost town. "The brick buildings went tenantless and only those who 
were left of the old settlers and a few of the newcomers remained" (Bagley 1929: 844). 
As Peter Kirk's industrial dream faded, "a kind of rural subsistence economy took 
shape as people worked when they could and tended small farms, raising much of 
their own food and taking the rest to Seattle by boat to sell. . . . One could also still 
find work chopping down trees, cutting them into lumber, digging coal, harvesting or 
fishing . ... " (Buerge 1991: 15). 

Another attempt to industrialize Kirkland took place in 1892 when a woolen mill was 
constructed by Edward E. Eyeanson from Indiana. The mill was located at the end of 
Fourth Avenue on Lake Street. During the early years, the venture met with some 
success. At the peak of production, 150 to 250 persons were employed. "Eventually 
however, lack of capital, poor management, and unfavorable market conditions ruined 
the enterprise, and the doors of the mill closed in 1927" (Bagley 1929: 845). 

The Klondike gold rush, growth of the county's dairy and fruit industry, and 
expansion of steamboat and railroad routes, brought Seattle and Puget Sound out of 
the 1893 Depression, and Kirkland began, once again, to grow and prosper. There was 
a substantial increase in agricultural exports, as farms and communities on the 
Eastside expanded. Examples of farm residences built during this period are field 
sites #33, #51, and #73. 

Burke and Farrar, Inc., Seattle real estate dealers, set up offices adjacent to the 
Kirkland State Bank building in 1910. They acquired many of the vacant tracts which 
had been platted in the 90's and created new subdivisions through aggressive land 
promotions. Company agents sent circulars all over the country touting the town's 
industrial and agricultural potential, proximity to Lake Washington, and access to rail 
and steamboat lines. Between 1910 and 1929, Burke and Farrar platted more than 
twenty additions. The population of Kirkland nearly doubled between 1910 and 1920, 
from 532 to 1,354; with an increase to 1, 714 by 1930. 
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The new prosperity stimulated population growth in the area. In 1900, the population 
was 392. Incorporated in 1905, Kirkland grew to 741 by the end of the decade. 
Kirkland had become the "leading transportation and suburban town on the 
Eastside ... " (R. L. Polk & Co. 1911: 239). Ferries between Kirkland and Seattle 
operated 18 hours a day. "Ten auto stage lines radiated from Kirkland into the 
surrounding county ... " (ibid. 239). Kirkland "contained a shingle mill, two lumber 
mills, a woolen mill, logging-jack facto7, two general merchandise stores, drug store, 
two hotels, a bakery and a livery stable' (ibid. 239). Kirkland also had several schools, 
two phone companies, three churches, a commercial club, and several fraternal 
societies. The East Side News, the largest county paper, was published in Kirkland. 
By 1920, the city's population was 1,354. By 1928, the population had increased to 
over 2,000. (By 1950, Kirkland's population was approximately 4,700, while 
Houghton's was approximately 1,000. The entire Kirkland Planning Area had a 
population of 12,500.) 

The opening of the Lake Washington Ship Canal, which finally occurred in 1917, was 
a boon for Kirkland. The lowering of the lake created additional shorelands, providing 
land on the eastern shores of the lake. "Lake Washington Boulevard, a 60 mile paved 
road that completely encircled the lake_, was built upon these shorelands" (Ely 1975: 
98). While the opening of the canal aid not industrialize Kirkland, it did step up 
production at the Anderson (Lake Washington) Shipyard at Houghton and provided 
for a more diverse economic base that assisted in accelerating the growth of the 
Eastside after World War I through the 1920's. With the establishment of the Lake 
Washington Shipyard, Kirkland and Houghton had finally secured an industrial base. 

By the 1930's, despite the Depression, Kirkland had become a prosperous farming 
community. Its principal enterprises were poultry, dairy, and truck farming. Men 
and women also worked seasonally at the shipyard, in logging camps, or for the Works 
Progress Administration. 

Kirkland was also rapidly becoming a bedroom (suburban) community for those who 
commuted to Seattle by ferry for work. While Kirkland was not the preeminent 
industrial center as originally envisioned, it had become the premier market town on 
the northeastern shore of the lake due to increased shipping and commerce and the 
establishment of regular ferry service between Kirkland and Madison Park/Leschi 
(Seattle). 



Chapter IV: 

Early Shipbuilding 
and the Founding of 
the Yard 

Shipbuilding - Lake Washington 
Shipyard 

The fact that shipbuilding became a major industry on Lake Washington is not 
surprising. What is ironic is that the industry took hold at Houghton, the community 
that was never enthusiastic over the prospects of its neighbor to the north becoming 
the "Pittsburgh of the West." 

During the early pioneer period, water travel was the most reliable means of 
transportation in the Puget Sound region. Decent roads, even paths, were few in 
number. "Seattle had become a shipbuilding center by_ the 1880's, and small boat­
building operations had begun on Lake Washington at Yarrow Point (Houghton) and 
Pontiac near Sand Point. A 'mosquito fleet' of small steamers began operating on 
Puget Sound. . . . This enabled small settlements at . . . Bellevue, Kirkland . . . to 
begin to grow" (King County 1980: 38). 

In the 1880's, Frank Curtis, son of Houghton pioneers James and Sophie Curtis, 
hauled logs, freight, and passengers by steamboat on Lake Washington, including 
regular service between Seattle and Houghton. After the failure of the steel mill, the 
steamboat business declined, and when a fire destroyed their boat, the "Eflin," the 
Curtis family turned to building their own boats. "They cleared a spot on the shore 
just north of their house (on the shoreline at Houghton) and laid the keel of the 
'Peerless,' the first vessel built on the site of what would become the Lake Washington 
Shipyard" (Buerge 1991: 15). The following year (in 1901) the Curtis family sold their 
shipyard to Captains George Bartsch and Harry Tompkins, who greatly enlarged the 
operation. Bartsch and Tompkins built and operated small steamships until 1907, 
when they merged their enterprise with a Swedish seaman named John Anderson, 
and reorganized as the Anderson Steamboat Company. The Alaska-Yukon Exposition 
of 1909 (in Seattle) was a boon for Anderson. He built "several ships that carried 
passengers from points all along the lake to the fairgrounds on the University of 
Washington. . . . To accommodate the increased workload, Anderson expanded his 
workforce from 30 men to 100" (Buerge 1991: 15). 
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Growth of the 
Shipyard and World 
warn 

Chapter IV: Shipbuilding· Lake Washington Shipyard 

The construction of the Lake Washington Ship Canal made the lake accessible to 
large, sea-going vessels, allowing Anderson to be able "to compete with other West 
Coast shipyards on an equal footing" (Buerge 1991: 16). By the end of World War I, 
400 men were employed at the shipyard. In 1923, Anderson sold the yard to Charles 
Burckhardt, owner of Alaskan Consolidated Canneries Inc., who used the yard to 
repair his cannery tenders and fishing boats. Mr. Burckhardt changed the name of 
the shipyard to Lake Washington Shipyard. Hundreds of small craft were repaired 
and most Puget Sound ferries were built or rebuilt at the shipyard, including vessels 
used in the Alaska salmon industry. 

A new era was ushered in when the yard in 1926 won the contract to convert the 
Great Lakes steamer, "Chippewa," into a single-ended diesel car ferry for the Puget 
Sound Navigational Company. This was the yard's first steel job: All other work had 
been done previously with wooden ships. Expertise in steel hull construction, and a 
steady trickle of small jobs, enabled the yard to survive the early, cyclical years of the 
Depression. Then in 1935 came the contract to rebuild the "Kalakala," the first 
streamlined ferry on the West Coast. "The work on the Kalakala marked an upturn in 
the yard's work and ushered in a relatively prosperous period in the Kirkland area" 
(Buerge 1991: 17). This was quite significant since Puget Sound and the rest of the 
country were still in a deep economic depression. 

This upturn in the shipyard's fortunes was minor when compared with the growth 
that occurred at the yard, and on the entire Eastside, with the outbreak of the World 
War II in the late 1930's. With the war intensifying by 1940, the "U.S. Navy 
commissioned the shipyard to build four submarine net tenders. . . . They were all 
completed in record time. This set the pace for the wartime construction that followed 
in 1941 .... " (Stokes 1970: 19). 

As late as 1940, the communities on the Eastside were basically still very rural. 
American participation in World War II, however, set in motion a transformation of 
the region that resulted in increased suburbanization and industrialization. "After 
the attack on Pearl Harbor, the Defense Plant Corp and the Navy underwrote a 
massive expansion that quadrupled the size of the yard. . . . Overnight, the Kirkland­
Houghton area was transformed into a throbbing industrial metropolis. From a 1939 
workforce of 250, employment at the yard skyrocketed until it surpassed 8,000" 
(Buerge 1991: 17-18). Predictably, "Kirkland's population doubled. . . . At the 
beginning of 1944, it was estimated that 10,000 people lived within the Kirkland 
school district, and the Kirkland post office estimated it served anywhere from 13,000 
to 14,000 people" (Buerge 1991: 18). 
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Demise of the Yard 

The flood of war workers that descended upon Kirkland-Houghton produced a 
monumental housing crisis. Some workers had to commute long distances to work, so 
the federal government built housing projects nearby. Hundreds of dormitory units, 
single-family homes, duplexes and apartments were constructed. "In an attempt to 
solve the problems of wartime housing, the Lakeview Terrace housing development 
was built ... the entire Houghton hilltop_, including what today is known as Wildwood 
Heights, the Special Education Center, Northwest College, the Seventh Day Adventist 
School, the Lakeview School area and even as far north as today's Everest Park, was 
turned into public housing" (Ely 1975: 108). 

Portions of Kirkland-Houghton resembled a hastily-constructed boom town. "But the 
boom-town atmosphere failed to mask the strains inflicted upon the community by its 
rapid industrialization. Submerged by the flood of newcomers, the comfortable 
familiarity that marked Kirkland's pre-war character vanished" (Buerge 1991: 18). 
While the community had finally obtained its long-sought after industrialization, as 
the war drew to a close, many residents began to question whether the new prosperity 
was worth the breakdown in social ties and the loss of a sense of small-town 
community and stability. 

The shipyard's heroic image and reputation as one of the most important naval 
construction yards in the country became tarnished towards the end of the war due to 
mismanagement, fraud, and environmental degradation. There were reports of 
workers sleeping on the job, enormous cost overruns, and inadequate septic systems to 
handle the increase in raw sewage that threatened water supplies and lake beaches. 
"The community had come to view its industrial homefront with dismay. It was 
extravagant, enormous, and dangerous, and its well-publicized incompetence finally 
dimmed the glow of wartime heroism. . . . The tacit bargain between the town and 
their industry was broken as scandal and P.ublic health concerns unbalanced the 
delicate equation between benefit and liability' (McConaghy 1987: D2). 

At the war's end, the Navy proposed a plan for moorage of mothballed warships at the 
shipyard. The plan created quite a controversy in the community. When an oil spill at 
the yard in 1946 "fouled beaches and killed wildlife up and down the eastern lake 
shore, residents who opposed the Navy mothballing were vindicated" (McConaghy 
1987: D2). The plan was soon dropped. 
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The shipyard closed at the end of the year. Houghton, fearin~ that their waterfront 
would be the target for future industrial uses, incorporated m 194 7 and zoned its 
waterfront for residential use. At the end of the ki!r, the shipyard was sold to Alaska 
Terminal and Stevedoring, a subsidiary of the S · ner Corporation, who used it as a 
winter storage for freighters. The waterfront was never again used for major 
shipbuilding. By the late 1960's, all ship-related activities had ceased and the yard 
buildings were being leased to small manufacturing firms. None of the buildings or 
docks remain today. 
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Initially, the principle means of transport between Seattle and the Eastside was by ferry (illustrations, fage 12 and 
page 30). Beginning in the 1880's, a "mos9uito" fleet of small steamers ferried passengers and frei~ht al over Puget 
Sound and Lake Washington. In the 1890 s, the Curtis family at Houghton ran the steamer "Elfin' between Juanita 
and Houghton, with regular crossings from Kirkland's Moss Bay ferry slip to Madison Park in Seattle. 
"Anticipating the tourist trade during the Alaska-Yukon-Pacific Exposition in 1908, the Anderson Shipyard stepped­
up production and built several new boats" (Ely 1975: 90). Among the first ships of significant size built at the 
Anderson Shipyard were the ferries "Lincoln" and "Issaquah", both in 1914. The Lincoln transported passengers 
and freight between Kirkland and Seattle. Later that year, the ferry "Leschi" made its maiden voyage between 
Leschi Park and Bellevue-Medina. In 1940, the Leschi took over the Kirkland-Madison Park route from the Lincoln. 
The Lincoln had become a familiar landmark; since 1914, it had been the principal ferry between Madison Park and 
Moss Bay. With the entry of the United States into the World War II, and the dramatic increase in shipyard 
personnel, both the Leschi and Lincoln were used to transport workers from Seattle to their jobs at the shipyard in 
Houghton. Nevertheless, when Captain John Anderson retired from operating the county ferry system in 1935 and 
the Lake Washington Floating Bridge opened in 1940, the era of ferries running between Seattle and Kirkland was 
coming to a close. Only the extraordinary conditions brought by World War II gave the system a temporary 
reprieve. The last ferry run between Kirkland and Madison Park was on August 31, 1950. 
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Kirkland Ferry Dock, King County Ferry System, "Seattle Ferry". (Courtesy: Barbara Loomis, 
Kirkland) 
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Intersection of Kirkland Avenue and Lake Street, looking east, circa 1920 (Marymoor Museum 
Collection, Neg. L 86.20.2). 
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Looking east from Kirkland Ferry Dock to intersection of Lake Street and Kirkland Way (Wil­
liams and Webb Building on right are still standing). (Courtesy: Barbara Loomis, Kirkland) 



Chapter VI: 

Historic Architectural 
Styles and Community 
Development 

Conclusion 

The progression of historic architectural styles in Kirkland is associated with the 
different periods of community development. During the pioneer period (1860's-70's)! 
Euro-American settlers erected rudimentary shelters from available natura 
materials. As one of the earliest acts of clearing the land, whole or split hand hewn 
logs were cut and used to build sturdy log cabins. As sawmills capable of preparing 
dimensional lumber proliferated around the County, housing followed the tradttional 
vernacular styles of framed buildings elsewhere in America. The construction of a 
two-story wood frame and clapboard house by Harry French in 1874 was the first of its 
kind in the Kirkland area. All previous structures had been of log and shake 
construction. 

By the 1880's and the 1890's, simple one and two-story wood frame farmhouses 
evolved into more highly ornamented Victorian and Queen Anne residences with 
milled porch posts, carved brackets, bay windows and scalloped shingles. In rural 
communities like Kirkland, however, vernacular adaptations of Victorian (Queen 
Anne, Italianate, Classic Box) and popular revival styles (Colonial, Classical, Tudor) 
were the norm. Even more popular were the vernacular working class/mill town 
homes and pioneer farmhouses that reflected Classical Revival influences -- precise 
geometric lines, flat exterior surfaces and symmetrical forms. 

The applications of vernacular housing stock versus the use of high styles at the tum 
of the century reflected a time-lag between rural and urban receptivity to new 
architectural styles. While urban areas were quick to adopt newer Gothic and 
Victorian styles, rural areas, like Kirkland, were slower to change. The predominance 
of pioneer farmhouses, working class/mill cottages and early Craftsman Bungalow 
styles in Kirkland, reflecting a blend of rural functionalism with vernacular Classical 
Revival influences, occurred well into the twentieth century. 

As reflected by the inventory of surviving significant structures, the majority of homes 
built in Kirkland during this period were "Carpenter" or "Builder" rather than 
"architect" designed. The exceptions were those of wealthy merchants, mill owners, 
and farmers who could afford more prestigious accommodations, like the Victorian 
mill town homes built by John Kellet and the Kirkland Land and Improvement 
Company. 
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11 Field Site #73 
18 Field Site #31 

Chapter VI: Conclusion 

A fine example of a vernacular ·pioneer farm house, built in 1920, exists at 802 1st 
Street in Kirklandl7. The Sutthoff housel8, built in classic and Georgian revival 
styles, was built between 1903 to 1905. 

The Victorian houses and buildings that remain from Peter Kirk's steel mill venture 
are significant as symbols of 19th century capitalism and land speculation. As one of 
the few planned industrial towns in Washington, Kirkland, and its early buildings, 
represent the transformation of a pioneer settlement into an industrial boom town. 
Kirkland's boom collapsed, but the town eventually prospered. Many of these early 
wood frame and brick homes, located west and north of the Market Street business 
district, were designed and built by John Kellet and the Kirkland Land and 
Improvement Company to accommodate executives of the Great Western and Iron and 
Steel Company, while others were built as a speculative venture to be sold to the great 
influx of steel mill employees. Kellet, chief engineer of the company, and designer of 
the original plat of Kirkland, modeled many of his homes after popular Victorian 
styles that ranged from Italianate, Romanesque and Gothic to vernacular adaptations 
of Queen Anne and Classical Revival styles. 

With the return of prosperity by the tum of the century, aggressive land promotion 
schemes of real estate agents like Burke and Farrar, and westbound settlers now able 
to travel to Puget Sound by transcontinental railroad, there was a considerable 
increase in building activity in King County. Peter Kirk's replatting of the Kirkland 
townsite in 1890-91, resulting in two grids laid on either side of Market Street, 
provided the town with a means to accommodate population p:owth. Between 1910 
and 1930, Burke and Farrar platted twenty land additions to Kirkland. 

During this period, rural trade centers and mill towns provided accommodation for 
laborers, fishermen, and transient businessmen in various single-room occupancy 
hotels and boarding houses in downtown commercial areas near major transportation 
routes. In Kirkland, several hotels, the Kirkland, Jackson, and Gilbert Hotels, were 
located near the waterfront and ferry/bus terminals. Rooming houses were also 
located on the second floors of downtown commercial buildings. As residential and 
commercial development and major trans~ortation routes (i.e. Lake Washington 
ferries) moved further away from Kirkland s original center as the small town was 
transformed into a large suburb, these transient accommodations were rendered 
obsolete and closed down. 
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19 Field Site #67 
20 Field Site #11 
21 Field Site #68 
22 Field Site #23 
23 Field Site #25 
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The housing stock in Kirkland from 1900 to 1930 reflected trends nationwide, made 
popular by the spread of architectural pattern books, trade publications and mail 
order catalogues. The Classic Box or American Foursquare, a bridge between 
asymmetrical Victorian forms and the Craftsman Bungalow era, was a popular 
housing type for large families that were moving to growing suburban communities 
like Kirkland. Later, Bungalows provided smaller, less expensive housing than 
Victorian/Classic Box styles. One could order by mail an entire Bungalow, available in 
kits from firms like Sears Roebuck, and assemble the home on site. One to one-and-a­
half story, wood frame bungalows with bracketed gable roofs, tapered porch pillars, 
and double sash windows, and the larger and more ornate Craftsman types, can be 
found in most of Kirkland's pre-World War II neighborhoods. An example ofthis era 
is the Landry house19, one of the oldest homes in Rose Hill. It was built in 1904. 
Another is a prairie-style bungalow located at 508 8th Avenue West20. It was built in 
1920. The caretaker house for the Kirkland Cemetery21 represents the bungalow style 
popular from 1900 to 1930 in Kirkland. 

These neighborhoods contained both high style and vernacular housing reflecting the 
scattered development that occurred in Kirkland. Boom and bust cycles, and the fact 
that the original proposed development was never completed, accounts for this 
phenomena. Additionally, some early homes were built in outlying areas as over­
eager buyers purchased over-inflated lots far from the center of the town. They 
anticipated an expansive community that would quickly fill up the spaces in between. 
This occurred, but at a much later date. 

The town developed in spite of the demise of the steel mill. Kirkland's proximity to 
train and steamer/ferry routes, growth of dairy and fruit farms, and location on the 
lake, made Kirkland the commercial capital on the Eastside. The Williams22 and the 
Webb23 buildings are remnants of commercial development which occurred in 1930. 
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The lowering of Lake Washington opened more areas to industrialization. During the 
Depression, however, residential development was slowed considerably. While a 
prosperous farming community, Kirkland was on its way to becoming a suburb. The 
p_l"ocess accelerated with the construction of the first floating bridge over Lake 
Washington. 

World War II and the subsequent growth of the Lake Washington Shipyard set the 
stage for another boom period in Kirkland. Soon a housing shortage occurred, causing 
the Federal government to build wartime public housing on the ridge above Houghton. 
Shortage of building materials and manpower during the war period resulted in 
standardization, prefabricated housing, ana modular plans. Some of these one story, 
suburban tract houses remain today. 

The automobile and better roads opened up county agricultural lands to residential 
development after World War II. Subdivisions spread rapidly, far from original town 
centers, often acljacent to main traffic arteries that caused an explosion in commercial 
11Strips." Post-war development in rural King County of new residential centers 
changed the old community-oriented domestic_pattem while destroying manr of the 
area's early homesteads and farmhouses. Expanding in-town commercia zones, 
multi-family housing and highway construction has adversely affected the integrity of 
older, nearby neighborhoods, ultimately jeopardizing their survival. 
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Historic Property Inventory Forms and Map 



Field 
Site# 

1 

2 

3 

4 

s 

6 

7 

8 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY INDEX 1992 

Historic Name Address Status 

Loomis House 304 81b Avenue West National Register 

Tompkins/Bucklin House 20251b West 

Snyder/Moody House 514 lOth Avenue West 

Joshua Sears Building 701 Market Street National Register 

CampbeU Building 700 Market Street National Register 

Peter Kirk Building 620 Market Street National Register/ 
Historic Overlay Zone 

KeUet House/Harris House 526 lOth Avenue West 

152 Waverly Way 

502 8th Avenue West 

508 81b Avenue West 

Cbapman-Shinstrom House/Cedemere Estate/ 630 11th Avenue West 
Norman House 

427 11th Avenue West 

202 Waverly Way 

421 112 14th Avenue West 

Brooks Building 609 Market Street 

Baptist Omrch/American Legion HaU 138 5th Avenue NE 

Houghton Church Ben 106 5th Avenue 

Dr. Trueblood's Home 127 7th Avenue National Register 

Kirkland Women's Oub 407 1st Street National Register 

Reverend Newberry House 519 1st Street 



Field 
Site# 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

Historic Name 
Sessions Funeral Home 

Williams Building 

Captain Anderson Clock 

Webb Building 

McEnvoy Lumber Company 

Green's Funeral Home 

Louis Marsh House 

The French House 

The Sanitarium/Sutthoff House 

Kirkland Cannery 

Dr. Davis Home 

Gilbert House 

Berto Home, Site of Original Frencb Homestead 

Address Status 
302 FIJ'St Street 

SW Corner Kirkland Avenue and Lake Street 

NW Corner Lake Street and Kirkland Avenue 

89 Kirkland Ave 

690 Kirkland Way 

102 State Street South 

400 State Street 

6604 Lake Washington Boulevard National Register/ 
Historic Overlay Zone 

4130 NE Lake Washington Boulevard 

4120 Lake Washington Boulevard 

640 8tb Avenue 

703 State Street South 

714 2nd Street South 

120 7th Avenue South 

1046 5th Street 

660 12th A venue 

631 9th Avenue 

417 6th Avenue South 

6211 Lake Washington Boulevard 

1850 3rd Street 

202 41h Avenue 



Field 
Site# 

44 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

64 

65 

66 

Historic Name 

Dorr Forbes Residence 

Shumway Mansion 

Ostberg Bam 

Rose Hill Grange Hall 

Rose Hill Grade SchooVStewart School 

Beardsley Log Home 

Address Status 

411 Market Street 

1901 3rd Street 

1900 3rd Street 

2005 Market Street 

740 18th Avenue West 

1023 4th Street 

11829 97th NE 

11410 99th Place NE Historic Overlay Zone 

10836 NE I 16th Street 

8811 116th Avenue NE 

8803 116th Avenue NE 

1835 3rd Street 

9442 116th Avenue NE 

11630 NE 90th 

122nd Avenue and NE 90th Street 

1895 Market Street 

11834 NE 90th Street 

901:5 124th Avenue NE 

8546124th Avenue NE 

1931 lOth Place West 

8538 128th Avenue 



Field 
Site# 

67 

68 

69 

71 

72 

73 

Historic Name 

Landry House 

Cemetery - Caretaker House 

Address 

8016 126th Avenue NE 

12036 NE 80th Street 

5822 108th Avenue NE 

1824 3rd Street 

710 1st Avenue 

802 1st Street 

Note: Field Site Numbers 9,43.45,63. 70 are missing. These numbers were not assigned to sites. 

Status 



AppendixB 

List of Surveyed Properties Not Included in Inventory 

Demolished 
Sunshine Flower Company, 217 5th Avenue North 
Lake House, 10127 N.E. 
Lake Washington Shipyards, 5305 Lake Washington Blvd. 
Lund House, 11833 93rd Avenue N.E. 

Existinir 
10122 N.E. 59th Street 
306 Third Street 
400 Seventh Avenue West 
424 Eighth Avenue West 
428 lOth Avenue West 
998 Waverly Way 
714 Sixth Street 
742 Second Street South 
1009 A Sixth Street 
7843 124th Avenue N.E. 
Webb Building, Kirkland Avenue and Lake Street 
216 Waverly Way 
9241124th Avenue N.E. 
12112th Avenue 
1014 N.E. 59th Street 
1079 Fifth Street 
9211124th Avenue N.E. 
300 lOth Avenue 
7 49 State Street South 
326 Sixth Street 
302 Sixth Avenue 
310 First Street 
344 lOth Avenue West 
1420 Second Street 
1617 Market Street 
9007 132nd Avenue N.E. 
203 Seventh Avenue West 
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AppendixC 

Historic Sites in the City of Kirkland 

Great Western Iron & Steel Works, 122nd Avenue NE and NE 90th Street 
Lake Washington Shipyard, 5305 Lake Washington Boulevard NE 
Kirkland Ferry Dock, foot of Kirkland Avenue 
Peter Kirk Park, Kirkland Avenue 
The Causeway, across Juanita Slough between Kirkland and Juanita 
Lakeview Terrace Shipyard Housing Development, between Northeast 65th and Northeast 65th Streets 

PL\KJRKHIST/l0.9-9'1JLP..t111 
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Great Western Iron and Steel Mill (Special Collections Division, University of Washington Libraries, 
Neg. #11487). 

.. . 

Matzen Woolen Mills, Kirkland waterfront (Special Collections Division, University of Washington 
Libraries, Neg. #4443). 
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Kirkland, 1889 (Kirkland Bank Building at intersection of Market Street and Central Way before 
Market Street was cut through; steamboat dock in background). (Special Collections Division, Univer­
sity of Washington Libraries , Neg. #1871) 

Kirkland, early 1890's (Kirkland Bank Building at intersection of Market Street and Central Way; 
wood frame buildings on waterfront became first city hall and jail. (Marymoor Museum Collection, 
Neg. OR/L 498) 



Lake Washington Telephone Company (Kirkland Bank Building, intersection of Market Street and Central Way). (Courtesy: Ernie Fortescue, Kirkland) 
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Kirkland Ferry Dock, King County Ferry System, "Seattle Ferry". (Counesy: Barbara Loomis, 
Kirkland) 

• • • 



Looking east from Kirkland Ferry Dock to intersection of Lake Street and Kirkland Way (Wil­
liams and Webb Building on right are still standing). (Courtesy: Barbara Loomis , Kirkland) 

-.------

. . . 

Intersection of Kirkland A venue and Lake Street, looking east, circa 1920 (Marymoor Museum 
Collection, Neg. L 86.20.2). 



Brooks Grocery Building, circa 1890 (611 Market Srreet, just south of 7th & Market). (Marymoor 
Museum Collection , Neg. OR!L 398) 

Bungalow from the turn of the century, Dr. George H. Davis home, circa 1909 (Marymoor Museum 
Collection , Neg. L 80.02.1). 
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